
Please ask for:
Lisa Young
Direct dial:
(023) 9254 5340
Fax:
(023) 9254 5587
E-mail:
lisa.young@gosport.gov.uk

16 March 2021

S U M M O N S

MEETING: Policy and Organisation Board
DATE: 24 March 2021
TIME: 6.00 pm
PLACE: Virtually 
Democratic Services contact: Lisa Young

PAUL GRANT
BOROUGH SOLICITOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

Councillor Mrs Huggins (Mayor) and Councillor Hook (Chairman)
Councillor Burgess (Vice-Chairman) 

Councillor Ms Ballard
Councillor Bateman
Councillor Burgess
Councillor Chegwyn
Councillor Mrs Cully
Councillor Foster-Reed
Councillor Herridge
Councillor Mrs Hook

Councillor Mrs Hook
Councillor Hylands
Councillor Jessop
Councillor Murphy
Councillor Philpott
Councillor Mrs Prickett
Councillor Raffaelli

Public Document Pack



NOTE:

i. Councillors are requested to note that, if any Councillor who is not a Member of the Board 
wishes to speak at the Board meeting, then the Borough Solicitor is required to receive 
not less than 24 hours prior notice in writing or electronically and such notice shall 
indicate the agenda item or items on which the member wishes to speak. 

ii. Please note that mobile phones should be switched off or switched to silent for the duration 
of the meeting.

iii. This meeting may be filmed or otherwise recorded. By attending this meeting, you are 
consenting to any broadcast of your image and being recorded. 



Policy and Organisation Board
24 March 2021

AGENDA

RECOMMENDED 
MINUTE FORMAT

1.  APOLOGIES FOR NON-ATTENDANCE 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3.  MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BOARD HELD ON 2 
FEBRUARY 2021. 

4.  DEPUTATIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.4 

(NOTE: The Board is required to receive a deputation(s) on a matter 
which is before the meeting of the Board provided that notice of the 
intended deputation and its object shall have been received by the 
Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on Monday, 22 March 2021.  The total 
time for deputations in favour and against a proposal shall not 
exceed 10 minutes).

5.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.5 

(NOTE: The Board is required to allow a total of 15 minutes for 
questions from Members of the public on matters within the terms of 
reference of the Board provided that notice of such Question(s) shall 
have been submitted to the Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on 
Monday, 22 March 2021).

6.  TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REVIEW 2019/20 
PROGRESS REPORT 2020/21 AND PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

The annual treasury report is a requirement of the Council’s 
reporting procedures and covers the treasury activity for 2019/20 
together with an in year review 2020//21. The report also includes 
the Prudential Indicators for 2019/20 in accordance with the 
requirements of the Prudential Code.

This report would ordinarily go to the Policy and Organisation 
Board between September and December but due to the 
extended timetable for production of the annual accounts 
arising from the Covid 19 pandemic and then commencement of 
the budget process this report was deferred.   

7.  TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY MRP POLICY 2021/22 



Policy and Organisation Board
24 March 2021

This report outlines the Council’s policy for charging unfinanced 
capital expenditure to revenue (MRP) together with the expected 
treasury operations for this period. It fulfils a key legislative 
requirement.

8.  PERSISTENT AND VEXATIOUS COMPLAINTS POLICY 

This report sets out a proposal for a persistent and vexatious 
complaints policy to use specifically in relation to complaints and 
enquiries which are persistent and vexatious, which may include 
abusive and offensive communications with the Council.

9.  NOTIFICATION OF URGENT DECISION TO APPROVE THE 
AWARD THE CONTRACT FOR LEASED SUPPLY AND 
MAINTENANCE OF VEHICLES 

The Council’s Constitution sets out at paragraph 3.7 Part 3 Schedule 
10 that the Chief Executive has the following power:

“Authority to take any action on urgent matter which would 
otherwise require reference to or consultation with the Council, 
a Board or Committee, if there is no such time for such 
reference or consultation to be made provided the Section 151 
Officer and Monitoring Officer agree to the proposed course of 
action before it is decided. All such decisions shall be reported 
to the next meeting of the Council, Board or Committee”.

This power has in turn been delegated by the Chief Executive to the 
Assistant to the Chief Executive.

The Council has explored a number of procurement options for the 
vehicles needed to support the DSO-operated grounds maintenance 
function. Due to difficulty in obtaining competitive quotations, partly 
as a result of the Covid-19 global pandemic and the uncertainty 
around Brexit, the Chief Executive exercised the above power in 
order to award the lease contract for the necessary vehicles using 
the Negotiated Procedure, without prior advertisement, with U-lease 
and negotiate a contract on a direct award basis.

10.  ANY OTHER ITEMS 



Policy and Organisation Board
2 February 2021

1

A MEETING OF THE POLICY AND ORGANISATION BOARD
WAS HELD ON 2 FEBRUARY 2021

The Mayor 

Councillor Ballard, Councillor Bateman, Councillor Burgess, Councillor Chegwyn, Councillor 
Cully, Councillor Foster-Reed, Councillor Herridge, Councillor Hook, Councillor Mrs Hook, 
Councillor Hylands, Councillor Jessop, Councillor Murphy, Councillor Philpott, Councillor 
Mrs Prickett, Councillor Raffaelli. 

42. APOLOGIES FOR NON-ATTENDANCE 

There was none. 

43. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillors Hylands and Jessop declared a pecuniary interest in agenda item 7. COVID-19 
Government Help for Business Rate Payers and Council Tax Payers 

44. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BOARD HELD ON 25 NOVEMBER 2020 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on the 25th November 2020 be approved 
subject to the amendment identified. 

45. DEPUTATIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.4 

There were none

46. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.5 

There were none

47. CORPORATE VOLUNTEER POLICY 

Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Corporate and Community Safety 
seeking approval of a Volunteer Policy.

The Head of Corporate Policy and community Safety advised that the Policy was for 
individuals, and that there were two references to organisations that volunteered at 
paragraph 2.1 and 12.2 and it was proposed that these be removed to present any 
confusion. 

The Board was advised that the lack of formal appeal process has been queried but is was 
confirmed that it was not a contractual agreement with volunteers, but the Policy could be 
updated to reflect that the Council’s corporate policy could be used as an appeal 
mechanism. 

Members welcomed the report and recognised the importance of safeguarding volunteers 
and the Councils. Members also recognised the value of volunteers and the work they did. 

Agenda Item 3



Policy and Organisation Board
2 February 2021

2

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that safeguarding was important, 
and that each volunteer post would have their role and responsibility analysed to determine 
whether they would require a DBS check and undertaken. 

Members welcomed the clarification that the policy applied to individuals, and the opening 
up of the appeal mechanism and recognised the policy needed to be amended to reflect 
that the United Kingdom had left the European Union. 

RESOLVED: 
i) That the Board approved the Corporate Volunteer Policy subject to the amendments 

identified.
ii) That the Board acknowledged that the policy be underpinned by guidance and 

templates for service areas.

48. URGENT DECISIONS FOR BUSINESS RATE RELIEF ,GRANTS AND COUNCIL 
TAX 

Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Council Tax updating members on 
business rates reliefs and council tax support payments.

The Board was advised that there was one amendment to the report at 2.5, that there was 
now an end date to the scheme for wet led pubs, which was the 28th February 2021.

Members thanked the Council Tax staff for all the work undertaken in supporting local 
businesses through government schemes and the work undertaken in interpreting the 
schemes and the help and advice given to businesses by staff. 

It was acknowledged that there were still some businesses that did not qualify for the 
schemes and that this was not the fault of the Council. 

In answer to a Member question the Board was advised there had been 2772 grants made 
at a total of just under £22million. Some businesses had qualified for more than one grant 
over the course of the year. 

In answer to a Member’s question the Board was advised that over the course there had 
been fraudulent claims, businesses that did not meet the criteria of the Government and 
advised that where possible, if grants could be paid they would but they were constrained 
by the criteria set out by the Government.

Members paid tribute to the officers in the work undertaken to ensure if the Council could 
help with grants, they would. It was recognised that the lifeline offered by the Government 
was essential but acknowledged that it was the Local Authority that would be audited for the 
grants issued and the work undertaken to ensure they were correctly distributed. It was 
therefore important the right criteria would be used. 

Members recognised that it was a monumental effort to support businesses in this situation 
and to have a scheme in place to do so. 

Members also recognised the support to Local Council Tax Support claimants. 



Policy and Organisation Board
2 February 2021

3

RESOLVED: That the report was noted.

49. ANY OTHER ITEMS 

There were none. 

50. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED: That the press and public be excluded for the meeting as the report contains 
financial data which is identified as sensitive material.

51. HARDSHIP MARINA FITNESS 

Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Local Taxation asking the Board to 
consider an application for hardship relief from non-domestic rates by Marina Fitness Ltd.

RESOLVED: That the application by Marina Fitness Ltd for hardship relief under Section 49 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 be refused.

CHAIRMAN

Concluded at 6.54 pm



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Board POLICY AND ORGANISATION BOARD

Date of meeting: 24 MARCH 2021

Title: TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL 
REVIEW 2019/20, PROGRESS REPORT 
2020/21, & PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS

Author: BOROUGH TREASURER

Status: FOR NOTING

Purpose

The annual treasury report is a requirement of the Council’s reporting procedures and 
covers the treasury activity for 2019/20 together with an in year review 2020//21. The 
report also includes the Prudential Indicators for 2019/20 in accordance with the 
requirements of the Prudential Code.

This report would ordinarily go to the Policy and Organisation Board between 
September and December but due to the extended timetable for production of the 
annual accounts arising from the Covid 19 pandemic and then commencement of 
the budget process this report was deferred.   

Recommendations

The Board note 

 The Treasury Management outturn report 2019/20 as identified in 2.2
 The Treasury Management position for 2020/21 at the end of January 

2021 as identified in 2.3
 The Prudential Indicators outturn report 2019/20 as identified in 2.4

1 Background 
1.1 Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of 

the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA 
Code) which requires the Authority to approve a treasury management strategy 
before the start of each financial year and, as a minimum, a semi-annual and 
annual treasury outturn report. This report fulfils the Authority’s legal obligation 
under the Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code.

.
1.2 The Council’s treasury management strategy for 2019/20 was approved at a 

meeting of Council on 5th February 2020. The Council has borrowed and invested 
substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including 
the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The 

Agenda Item 6



- 2 -

successful identification, monitoring and control of risk are therefore central to 
the Council’s treasury management strategy. 

 
1.3 The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure, within a clear framework, 

that the capital expenditure plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable, and that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance 
with good professional practice and in full understanding of the risks involved and 
how these risks will be managed to levels that are acceptable to the Council.  

1.4 This report also meets the requirement of the 2017 CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) by reporting the 
2019/20 outturn indicators against those approved by Full Council on the 5th 
February as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy & Budget report 
2020/21. 

1.5 Actual figures have been taken from or prepared on a basis consistent with the 
Council’s audited statement of accounts. 

2.0 Report

2.1 EXTERNAL CONTEXT 

2.1.1 A general background description to the Public Sector Treasury Management 
Environment in 2019/20 as provided by Arlingclose Ltd, the Council’s Treasury 
Management advisers is set out in Appendix A.

The narrative covers the following broad areas

 Economic Commentary
 Financial Markets
 Credit background

2.2 TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 2019/20

2.2.1 On 31st March 2020, the Council had net borrowing (borrowings less investments) 
of £60.5m arising from its revenue and capital income and expenditure, a decrease 
of £0.8m on the previous year. 

Details behind the borrowing and investing activity are set out below.

2.2.2 Borrowing Activity

At 31st March 2020, the Council held £71.95m in loans a decrease of £1.55m on the 
previous year. The year end position is summarised below with 2018/19 figures for 
comparison.

(Following Housing Finance reform, two separate pools are being operated for 
Council debt and these are also shown below). 



- 3 -

2019/20
31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar

£'000 £'000 £'000
Fixed rate borrowing: 
PWLB 8,138 2.98% 20.53 52,812 3.14% 25.49 60,950 3.12% 24.83
Variable rate borrowing: 
Local Authority 11,000 0.97% 0.26 - - - 11,000 0.91% 0.26
Gross borrowing 19,138 52,812 71,950

Avge 
Life 
(Yrs)

Rate % Rate %
General Fund HRA Total

Avge 
Life 
(Yrs)

Rate % Avge 
Life 
(Yrs)

2018/19
31-Mar 31-Mar 31-Mar

£'000 £'000 £'000
Fixed rate borrowing: 
PWLB 8,188 3.32% 15.68 54,812 3.10% 24.60 63,000 3.14% 23.44
Variable rate borrowing: 
Local Authority 10,500 0.86% 0.11 - - - 10,500 0.86% 0.11
Gross borrowing 18,688 54,812 73,500

Total
Avge 
Life 
(Yrs)

Rate %Avge 
Life 
(Yrs)

Rate %Rate %
General Fund HRA

Avge 
Life 
(Yrs)

(Fixed rate borrowings and investments and are those where the rate of interest is 
fixed for at least 12 months, measured from the start of the financial year or the 
transaction date if later.  All other instruments are classed as variable rate)

The Council’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an appropriately low 
risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over 
the period for which funds are required, with flexibility to renegotiate loans should the 
Council’s long-term plans change being a secondary objective. 

The Council pursued its strategy of keeping borrowing and investments below their 
underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing, in order to reduce risk 
and keep interest costs low. 

In keeping with the objectives new long term borrowing was kept to a minimum £2m, 
while existing loans of £4.05m were allowed to mature without replacement. This 
strategy enabled the Council to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone 
investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk.

Short term borrowing ranged between £1m and £11m during 2019/20. 

2.2.3 Investment Activity

The Council holds invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held. 

The Council’s investment balances during 2019/20 are summarised in the table 
below and vary due to timing differences between income and expenditure.
All Investments were classified as variable rate investments i.e. interest rate was not 
fixed for a period greater than 1 year.
The average return on investments during the year was 0.81% compared with 0.85% 
the previous year.



- 4 -

Investment 
Position      

at

Money 
Market 
Funds 
£000's

Rate      
%

Banks & 
Building 
Societies 

(unsecured) 
£000's

Rate 
%

Local 
Authorities 

£000's
Rate 

%

Total 
Invest
ments 
£000's

Average 
Rate       

%

31/03/2019 5,160 0.80% 2,000 1.00% 5,000 0.94% 12,160 0.89%
Qtr 1 (end) 5730 0.78% 2,000 1.07% 1,000 0.87% 8,730 0.85%
Qtr 2 (end) 6,948 0.77% 5,000 0.87% 1,000 0.87% 12,948 0.81%
Qtr 3 (end) 7,720 0.73% 2,000 1.10% 1,000 0.78% 10,720 0.80%
31/03/2020 5,900 0.49% 2,000 1.10% 3,500 1.16% 11,400 1.16%
All investments undertaken during 2019/20 were in line with the Council’s investment 
strategy.

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Council to invest its 
funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments 
before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when 
investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, 
minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving 
unsuitably low investment income.

In furtherance of these objectives the Council maintains a spread of investments 
across unsecured bank & building society deposits and more secure investments i.e. 
other Local Authority Deposits and Money Market Funds.

2.2.4 Treasury Management Indicators

Maturity Structure of Borrowing (duration remaining of loans): This indicator is 
set to control the Council’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits 
on the maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing were: 

31-Mar-20 2020/21 2020/21 Complied
Actual Lower Upper 

% % %

Under 12 months 22% 0% 25% 
12 months and within 24 months 4% 0% 25% 
24 months and within 5 years 13% 0% 30% 
5 years and within 10 years 15% 0% 35% 
10 years and above 46% 35% 55% 

The Maturity Structure of fixed rate 
Borrowing

Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to 
interest rate risk.  The upper limits on the one year revenue impact of a 1% rise or 
fall in rates was



- 5 -

Interest rate exposures 2019/20 2019/20
Estimate Actual

£'000's £'000
Limits on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates (45) (85)
Limits on one-year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates 45 85

The impact of a change in interest rate is calculated on the assumption that maturing 
loans and investments will be replaced at current rates.

2.3 THE TREASURY POSITION IN 2020/21 (at the end of January 2021)

2.3.1 At 31st January the Council had net borrowing of £48.9m. Whilst this represents a 
decrease of £23.05m from the 31st March 2020, this is only a temporary position 
reflecting the Council’s in year cashflow at this point in time, this has allowed the 
Council to temporarily reduce the need for short term borrowing and increase its short 
term investments. It is anticipated the net borrowing position at the end of the financial 
year will return to levels similar to that at 31st March 2020.

Details behind the borrowing and investing activity are set out below.

2.3.2 Borrowing Activity

At the 31st January, the Council held £64.9m of loans a reduction of £7.05m since 
the beginning of the financial year. The reduction is due to the amount of short term 
borrowing required which reflects the cash flows of the Council. As we approach the 
end of the financial year borrowing is expected to return to a level similar to that at 
the end of the previous financial year. 

31st January 2021
£000's Rate % Avge 

Life 
(Yrs)

£000's Rate % Avge 
Life 
(Yrs)

£000's Rate % Avge 
Life 
(Yrs)

Fixed rate borrowing: 
PWLB 8,088 3.06% 18.69 52,812 3.14% 23.65 60,900 3.07% 22.99

Variable rate borrowing: 

Local Authorities 4,000 0.25% 0.34 - - - 4,000 0.25% 0.34
Gross borrowing 12,088 52,812 64,900

General Fund HRA Total

 

2.3.3 Investments Activity 
The following table summarises the investments of short term surplus funds during 
2020/21 up to 31st January 2021. All investments are in line with the Council’s 
investment strategy.

(Balances within the Council’s operational bank accounts are excluded from the 
figures below)



- 6 -

Investment 
Position      

at

Money 
Market 
Funds 
£000's

Rate      
%

Banks & 
Building 
Societies 

(unsecured) 
£000's

Rate 
%

Local 
Authorities 

£000's
Rate 

%

Total 
Invest
ments 
£000's

Average 
Rate       

%

31/03/2020 5,900 0.49% 2,000 1.10% 3,500 1.16% 11,400 1.16%
Qtr 1 (end) 9,050 0.25% 249 0.01% 1,000 0.90% 10,299 0.31%
Qtr 2 (end) 8,750 0.09% 397 0.01% 1,000 0.23% 10,147 0.10%
Qtr 3 (end) 11,000 0.02% 2,601 0.01% 1,000 0.23% 14,601 0.03%
31/01/2021 12,000 0.02% 3,000 0.01% 1,000 0.23% 16,000 0.03%

In response to the Covid 19 pandemic Council Investments have been kept short 
term during 2020/21 to ensure access to liquid cash to manage the uncertain impact 
on the Council’s cash flows. The Bank of England base rate is currently 0.1%. It 
dropped from 0.25% to 0.1% on 19 March 2020 to help control the economic shock 
of coronavirus. The bank reduced the base rate from 0.75% to 0.25% 1 week earlier 
on 11 March 2020.

2.3.4 PWLB Interest Rates

On the 9th October 2019 HM Treasury announced a change to the margin which is 
applied to PWLB interest rates for new loan advances. This had the effect of 
increasing interest rates for PWLB loans by 1%.

HM Treasury stated “Some local authorities have substantially increased their use of 
the PWLB in recent months, as the cost of borrowing has fallen to record lows. HM 
Treasury is therefore restoring interest rates to levels available in 2018, by increasing 
the margin that applies to new loans from the PWLB by 100bps (one percentage 
point) on top of usual lending terms. This restoration of normal PWLB lending rates 
will apply to all new loans with immediate effect”
The Chancellor’s March 2020 Budget statement included significant changes to 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) policy and launched a wide-ranging consultation 
on the PWLB’s future direction. Announcements included a reduction in the margin 
on new HRA loans to 0.80% above equivalent gilt yields (the value of this discount is 
1% below the rate at which the authority usually borrows from the PWLB), available 
from 12th March 2020.

(Following consultation HM Treasury announced a reduction of 1% in all PWLB loans 
and access to the PWLB will no longer available to local authorities planning to buy 
investment assets primarily for yield; the Council intends to avoid this activity in order 
to retain its access to PWLB loans)

2.4 THE PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS OUTTURN REPORT 2019/20



- 7 -

2.4.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to have regard to the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) when determining how 
much money it can afford to borrow. The objectives of the Prudential Code are 
to ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital investment plans of local 
authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury 
management decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. 
To demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential 
Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and monitored each year.

This report compares the approved indicators with the outturn position for 
2019/20. 

2.4.2 THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCING 2019/20 

The table below shows the actual capital expenditure which was financed and 
unfinanced during the year.

2019/20 2019/20
Revised Actual Difference

£'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund (GF)
Capital expenditure 3,535 2,957 (578)
Financed in year (2,237) (2,189) 48
Unfinanced capital expenditure 1,298 768 (530)

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
Capital expenditure 4,758 5,023 265
Financed in year (4,758) (5,023) (265)
Unfinanced capital expenditure 0 0 0

Capital Expenditure

2.4.3 Capital Financing Requirement: The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
measures the Council’s underlying need to borrow for a capital purpose. 

2019/20 2019/20
Revised Actual Difference

£'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund 21,216 20,799 (417)
HRA 61,789 61,676 (113)
Total CFR 83,005 82,475 (530)

Capital Financing Requirement

The CFR was £0.530m less than estimated; this was mainly due to slippage with 
the 2019/20 capital programme which resulted in a lower level of unfinanced 
capital expenditure.



- 8 -

2.4.4 Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement: In order to ensure that 
over the medium term debt will only be for a capital purpose, the Council should 
ensure that debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital 
financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial years. This 
essentially means that the Council is not borrowing to support revenue 
expenditure. This is a key indicator of prudence. 

2019/20 2019/20
Revised Actual Difference

£'000 £'000 £'000

Total Debt 76,000 71,950 (4,050)
Capital Financing requirement 83,005 82,475 (530)
Under / (Over) Borrowing (7,005) (10,525) (3,520)
Split between

General Fund (28) (1,661) (1,633)
HRA (6,977) (8,864) (1,887)

Debt and CFR

The debt remained below the CFR during 2019/20.

2.4.5 THE AUTHORISED LIMIT AND OPERATIONAL BOUNDARY FOR 
EXTERNAL DEBT

Authorised Limit for External Debt: The authorised limit is the affordable 
borrowing limit determined in compliance with the Local Government Act 2003. 
It is the maximum amount of debt that the Council can legally owe.  The 
authorised limit provides headroom over and above the operational boundary for 
unusual cash movements. 

Operational Boundary for External Debt: The operational boundary is based 
on the Council’s estimate of most likely (i.e. prudent but not worst case) scenario 
for external debt. It links directly to the Council’s estimates of capital expenditure, 
the capital financing requirement and cash flow requirements, and is a key 
management tool for in-year monitoring.  

.

Operational boundary 82,100 73,950 
Authorised Limit 89,800 73,950 

Authorised Limit, Operational 
Boundary and Total Debt

Maximum 
Debt 

2019/20 
£000's

2019/20 
Limits 
£000's

Complied

2.4.6 Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this 
prudential indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and 
other long term obligation costs net of investment income) against the net 
revenue stream.



- 9 -

2019/20 2019/20
Revised Actual Difference

£'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund 3.6% 4.0% 0.3%
HRA 33.9% 33.6% -0.1%

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream

3 Risk Assessment
3.1 The Council has complied with the relevant statutory and regulatory 

requirements, which limit the levels of risk associated with its treasury 
management activities. In particular its adoption and implementation of both the 
Prudential Code and the Code of Practice for Treasury Management means both 
that its capital expenditure is prudent, affordable and sustainable, and its treasury 
practices demonstrate a low risk approach.

3.2 The Council is aware of the risks of passive management of the treasury portfolio 
and, with the support of Arlingclose Ltd, the Council’s advisers, has proactively 
managed the debt and investments over the year. 

4 Conclusion
4.1 This report summaries the treasury activities and prudential indicators for 

2019/20 and reviews the treasury activities up to 31st January 2021. It is a key 
governance report for the Treasury Management function.

Financial Services 
comments:

As contained in the report.

Legal Services comments: It is a legal requirement that an annual Treasury 
Management report is considered by the Council

Crime and Disorder: N/A
Equality and Diversity: N/A
Service Improvement Plan 
implications:

Corporate Plan

This report is required in order that to fulfil statutory 
requirements associated with the achievement of both 
service improvement plan and corporate plan targets.

Risk Assessment As contained in the report
Background papers: Budget and Final Accounts working papers
Appendices/Enclosures: A. General Background Description To The Public 

Sector Treasury Management Environment In 2019/20
Report Author / Lead 
Officer:

Keith Price

Appendix A 

General Background Description To The Public Sector Treasury Management 
Environment In 2019/20



- 10 -

The following narrative was provided by Arlingclose Ltd 

Economic background: The UK’s exit from the European Union and future 
trading arrangements, had remained one of major influences on the UK economy 
and sentiment during 2019/20. The 29th March 2019 Brexit deadline was 
extended to 12th April, then to 31st October and finally to 31st January 2020. 
Politics played a major role in financial markets over the period as the UK’s 
tenuous progress negotiating its exit from the European Union together with its 
future trading arrangements drove volatility, particularly in foreign exchange 
markets. The outcome of December’s General Election removed a lot of the 
uncertainty and looked set to provide a ‘bounce’ to confidence and activity.

The headline rate of UK Consumer Price Inflation UK Consumer Price Inflation 
fell to 1.7% y/y in February, below the Bank of England’s target of 2%. Labour 
market data remained positive. The ILO unemployment rate was 3.9% in the 
three months to January 2020 while the employment rate hit a record high of 
76.5%. The average annual growth rate for pay excluding bonuses was 3.1% in 
January 2020 and the same when bonuses were included, providing some 
evidence that a shortage of labour had been supporting wages. 

GDP growth in Q4 2019 was reported as flat by the Office for National Statistics 
and service sector growth slowed and production and construction activity 
contracted on the back of what at the time were concerns over the impact of 
global trade tensions on economic activity. The annual rate of GDP growth 
remained below-trend at 1.1%.

Then coronavirus swiftly changed everything. COVID-19, which had first 
appeared in China in December 2019, started spreading across the globe 
causing plummeting sentiment and falls in financial markets not seen since the 
Global Financial Crisis as part of a flight to quality into sovereign debt and other 
perceived ‘safe’ assets.

In response to the spread of the virus and sharp increase in those infected, the 
government enforced lockdowns, central banks and governments around the 
world cut interest rates and introduced massive stimulus packages in an attempt 
to reduce some of the negative economic impact to domestic and global growth.

The Bank of England, which had held policy rates steady at 0.75% through most 
of 2019/20, moved in March to cut rates to 0.25% from 0.75% and then swiftly 
thereafter brought them down further to the record low of 0.1%. In conjunction 
with these cuts, the UK government introduced a number of measures to help 
businesses and households impacted by a series of ever-tightening social 
restrictions, culminating in pretty much the entire lockdown of the UK.

The US economy grew at an annualised rate of 2.1% in Q4 2019. After escalating 
trade wars and a protracted standoff, the signing of Phase 1 of the trade 
agreement between the US and China in January was initially positive for both 
economies, but COVID-19 severely impacted sentiment and production in both 
countries. Against a slowing economic outlook, the US Federal Reserve began 
cutting rates in August. Following a series of five cuts, the largest of which were 



- 11 -

in March 2020, the Fed Funds rate fell from of 2.5% to range of 0% - 0.25%. The 
US government also unleashed a raft of COVID-19 related measures and 
support for its economy including a $2 trillion fiscal stimulus package. With 
interest rates already on (or below) the floor, the European Central Bank held its 
base rate at 0% and deposit rate at -0.5%.

Financial markets: Financial markets sold off sharply as the impact from the 
coronavirus worsened. After starting positively in 2020, the FTSE 100 fell over 
30% at its worst point with stock markets in other countries seeing similar huge 
falls. In March sterling touch its lowest level against the dollar since 1985. The 
measures implemented by central banks and governments helped restore some 
confidence and financial markets have rebounded in recent weeks but remain 
extremely volatile. The flight to quality caused gilts yields to fall substantially. The 
5-year benchmark falling from 0.75% in April 2019 to 0.26% on 31st March. The 
10-year benchmark yield fell from 1% to 0.4%, the 20-year benchmark yield from 
1.47% to 0.76% over the same period. 1-month, 3-month and 12-month bid rates 
averaged 0.61%, 0.72% and 0.88% respectively over the period.

Since the start of the calendar 2020, the yield on 2-year US treasuries had fallen 
from 1.573% to 0.20% and from 1.877% to 0.61% for 10-year treasuries. German 
bund yields remain negative.

Credit review: In Q4 2019 Fitch affirmed the UK’s AA sovereign rating, removed 
it from Rating Watch Negative (RWN) and assigned a negative outlook. Fitch 
then affirmed UK banks’ long-term ratings, removed the RWN and assigned a 
stable outlook. Standard & Poor’s also affirmed the UK sovereign AA rating and 
revised the outlook to stable from negative. The Bank of England announced its 
latest stress tests results for the main seven UK banking groups. All seven 
passed on both a common equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio and a leverage ratio basis. 
Under the test scenario the banks’ aggregate level of CET1 capital would remain 
twice their level before the 2008 financial crisis.

After remaining flat in January and February and between a range of 30-55bps, 
Credit Default Swap spreads rose sharply in March as the potential impact of the 
coronavirus on bank balance sheets gave cause for concern. Spreads declined 
in late March and through to mid-April but remain above their initial 2020 levels. 
NatWest Markets Plc (non-ringfenced) remains the highest at 128bps and 
National Westminster Bank Plc (ringfenced) still the lowest at 56bps. The other 
main UK banks are between 65bps and 123bps, with the latter being the thinly 
traded and volatile Santander UK CDS.

While the UK and Non-UK banks on the Arlingclose counterparty list remain in a 
strong and well-capitalised position, the duration advice on all these banks was 
cut to 35 days in mid-March.

Fitch downgraded the UK sovereign rating to AA- in March which was followed 
by a number of actions on UK and Non-UK banks. This included revising the 
outlook on all banks on the counterparty list to negative, with the exception of 
Barclays Bank, Rabobank, Handelsbanken and Nordea Bank which were placed 
on Rating Watch Negative, as well as cutting Close Brothers long-term rating to 
A-. Having revised their outlooks to negative, Fitch upgraded the long-term 
ratings on Canadian and German banks but downgraded the long-term ratings 



- 12 -

for Australian banks. HSBC Bank and HSBC UK Bank, however, had their long-
term ratings increased by Fitch to AA-.



- 1 -

Report to: POLICY AND ORGANISATION BOARD

Meeting date: 24TH March 2021

Title: TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY & 
MRP POLICY 2021/22

Originator: BOROUGH TREASURER

Status FOR DECISION

Purpose

This report outlines the Council’s policy for charging unfinanced capital expenditure to 
revenue (MRP) together with the expected treasury operations for this period. It fulfils a key
legislative requirement.

Recommendations

Council is recommended to approve:

 Minimum Revenue Provision Policy, as identified in 2.1

 The Treasury Management Strategy, as identified in 2.2

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Overview

1.1.1 Treasury management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, borrowing and 
investments, and the associated risks. The Council has borrowed and invested 
substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the 
loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The 
successful identification, monitoring and control of financial risk are therefore central 
to the Council’s prudent financial management. 

Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the 
Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires the 
Council to approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each financial 
year. This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 
2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code.

Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered in a 
different report, the Investment Strategy, which accompanies this report.

1.2 Reporting requirements

Agenda Item 7



- 2 -

1.2.1 The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports 
each year, which incorporate a variety of polices, estimates and actuals. 

1.2.2 Minimum Revenue Provision and Treasury Management Strategy (this report) - 
which covers:
 a Minimum Revenue Provision Policy (how residual capital expenditure i.e. capital 

expenditure financed by debt - is charged to revenue over time);
 the Treasury Management Strategy (how the treasury management investments 

and borrowings are to be organised) including treasury indicators; 

1.2.3 A Mid Year Treasury Management Report – this will update members with the 
progress of the capital position, amending prudential indicators as necessary, and 
whether the treasury strategy and investment strategies are meeting their objectives 
or whether any policies require revision

1.2.4 An Annual Treasury Report – this provides details of a selection of actual prudential, 
investment and treasury indicators and actual treasury and investment operations 
compared to the estimates within the strategy. 

The latter two reports are combined and jointly and normally reported in September.

1.3 Annual Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement
1.3.1 The Council’s policy for calculating the annual amount charged to the revenue budget 

to repay capital expenditure financed by debt is set out in para 2.1.

1.4 Treasury Management Strategy for 2021/22

1.4.1 The strategy for 2021/22 (set out in section 2.2) includes the following areas:

 Economic Outlook and prospects for interest rates (para 2.2.1)
 Borrowing strategy (para 2.2.2) 
 Policy on borrowing in advance of need (para 2.2.3)
 Debt rescheduling (para 2.2.4)
 Investment strategy (Treasury Management Investments) (para 2.2.5)
 Treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council (para 

2.2.6)
 Other Items (para 2.2.7)

1.4.2 These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
CIPFA Prudential Code, the MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code and the MHCLG Investment Guidance.

2.0 REPORT



- 3 -

2.1 MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) POLICY STATEMENT

2.1.1 Background

Where the Council finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside resources to 
repay that debt in later years.  The amount charged to the revenue budget for the 
repayment of debt is known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). 

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to have regard to the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government’s Guidance on Minimum Revenue 
Provision (the MHCLG Guidance) most recently issued in 2018.

The broad aim of the MHCLG Guidance is to ensure that capital expenditure is 
financed over a period that is either reasonably commensurate with that over which 
the capital expenditure provides benefits, or, in the case of borrowing supported by 
Government Revenue Support Grant, reasonably commensurate with the period 
implicit in the determination of that grant. 

The 2018 updated guidance introduced a maximum useful life of 50 years for MRP 
purposes including any expenditure incurred on investment properties that provide a 
revenue stream, except where a longer life is supported by an opinion from a suitably 
qualified professional adviser.

There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision.

2.1.2 Policy Statement

 For unsupported capital expenditure MRP will be determined by charging the 
expenditure over the expected useful life of the relevant asset as the principal 
repayment on an annuity with an interest rate by reference to the relevant PWLB 
rate at 31st March, starting in the year after the asset becomes operational. MRP 
on purchases of freehold land will be charged over 50 years.

 For assets acquired by leases, MRP will be determined as being equal to the 
element of the rent or charge that goes to write down the balance sheet liability.

 No MRP will be charged in respect of assets held within the Housing Revenue 
Account.

2.2 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

2.2.1 Economic Outlook and prospects for interest rates

The Council uses Arlingclose Limited as its treasury advisor and the following is their 
view of the economic outlook and interest rates 

Economic background: The impact on the UK from coronavirus, lockdown 
measures, the rollout of vaccines, as well as the new trading arrangements with the 
European Union (EU), will remain major influences on the Council’s treasury 
management strategy for 2021/22.



- 4 -

The Bank of England (BoE) maintained Bank Rate at 0.10% in December 2020 and 
Quantitative Easing programme at £895 billion having extended it by £150 billion in 
the previous month. The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted unanimously for 
both, but no mention was made of the potential future use of negative interest rates. In 
the November Monetary Policy Report (MPR) forecasts, the Bank expects the UK 
economy to shrink -2% in Q4 2020 before growing by 7.25% in 2021, lower than the 
previous forecast of 9%. The BoE also forecasts the economy will now take until Q1 
2022 to reach its pre-pandemic level rather than the end of 2021 as previously 
forecast. By the time of the December MPC announcement, a COVID-19 vaccine was 
approved for use, which the Bank noted would reduce some of the downside risks to 
the economic outlook outlined in the November MPR.

UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) for November 2020 registered 0.3% year on year, 
down from 0.7% in the previous month. Core inflation, which excludes the more 
volatile components, fell to 1.1% from 1.5%. The most recent labour market data for 
the three months to October 2020 showed the unemployment rate rose to 4.9% while 
the employment rate fell to 75.2%. Both measures are expected to deteriorate further 
due to the ongoing impact of coronavirus on the jobs market, particularly when the 
various government job retention schemes start to be unwound in 2021, with the BoE 
forecasting unemployment will peak at 7.75% in Q2 2021. In October, the headline 3-
month average annual growth rate for wages were 2.7% for total pay and 2.8% for 
regular pay. In real terms, after adjusting for inflation, total pay growth was up by 1.9% 
while regular pay was up 2.1%.

GDP growth rebounded by 16.0% in Q3 2020 having fallen by -18.8% in the second 
quarter, with the annual rate rising to -8.6% from -20.8%. All sectors rose quarter-on-
quarter, with dramatic gains in construction (41.2%), followed by services and 
production (both 14.7%). Monthly GDP estimates have shown the economic recovery 
slowing and remains well below its pre-pandemic peak. Looking ahead, the BoE’s 
November MPR forecasts economic growth will rise in 2021 with GDP reaching 11% 
in Q4 2021, 3.1% in Q4 2022 and 1.6% in Q4 2023.

GDP growth in the euro zone rebounded by 12.7% in Q3 2020 after contracting by -
3.7% and -11.8% in the first and second quarters, respectively. Headline inflation, 
however, remains extremely weak, registering -0.3% year-on-year in November, the 
fourth successive month of deflation. Core inflation registered 0.2% y/y, well below the 
European Central Bank’s (ECB) target of ‘below, but close to 2%’.  The ECB is 
expected to continue holding its main interest rate of 0% and deposit facility rate of -
0.5% for some time but expanded its monetary stimulus in December 2020, increasing 
the size of its asset purchase scheme to €1.85 trillion and extended it until March 
2022.

The US economy contracted at an annualised rate of 31.4% in Q2 2020 and then 
rebounded by 33.4% in Q3. The Federal Reserve maintained the Fed Funds rate at 
between 0% and 0.25% and announced a change to its inflation targeting regime to a 
more flexible form of average targeting. The Fed also provided strong indications that 
interest rates are unlikely to change from current levels over the next three years.

Former vice-president Joe Biden won the 2020 US presidential election. Mr Biden is 
making tackling coronavirus his immediate priority and will also be reversing several 



- 5 -

executive orders signed by his predecessor and take the US back into the Paris 
climate accord and the World Health Organization.

Credit outlook: After spiking in late March as coronavirus became a global pandemic 
and then rising again in October/November, credit default swap (CDS) prices for the 
larger UK banks have steadily fallen back to almost pre-pandemic levels. Although 
uncertainly around COVID-19 related loan defaults lead to banks provisioning billions 
for potential losses in the first half of 2020, drastically reducing profits, reported 
impairments for Q3 were much reduced in some institutions. However, general bank 
profitability in 2020 and 2021 may be significantly lower than in previous years.

The credit ratings for many UK institutions were downgraded on the back of 
downgrades to the sovereign rating. Credit conditions more generally though in banks 
and building societies have tended to be relatively benign, despite the impact of the 
pandemic.

Looking forward, the potential for bank losses to be greater than expected when 
government and central bank support starts to be removed remains a risk, suggesting 
a cautious approach to bank deposits in 2021/22 remains advisable.

Interest rate forecast: The Council’s treasury management adviser Arlingclose is 
forecasting that BoE Bank Rate will remain at 0.1% until at least the first quarter of 
2024. The risks to this forecast are judged to be to the downside as the BoE and UK 
government continue to react to the coronavirus pandemic and the new EU trading 
arrangements. The BoE extended its asset purchase programme to £895 billion in 
November while keeping Bank Rate on hold and maintained this position in 
December. However, further interest rate cuts to zero, or possibly negative, cannot yet 
be ruled out but this is not part of the Arlingclose central forecast.

Gilt yields are expected to remain very low in the medium-term while short-term yields 
are likely remain below or at zero until such time as the BoE expressly rules out the 
chance of negative interest rates or growth/inflation prospects improve. The central 
case is for 10-year and 20-year to rise to around 0.60% and 0.90% respectively over 
the time horizon. The risks around the gilt yield forecasts are judged to be broadly 
balanced between upside and downside risks, but there will almost certainly be short-
term volatility due to economic and political uncertainty and events.

Interest rate forecasts :



- 6 -

Bank 
Rate %

PWLB Borrowing Rates %
(including certainty rate adjustment)

5 year 10 year 20 year 50 year
Mar-21 0.10 0.80 1.05 1.50 1.40
Jun-21 0.10 0.80 1.10 1.50 1.40
Sep-21 0.10 0.85 1.15 1.55 1.45
Dec-21 0.10 0.90 1.15 1.55 1.45
Mar-22 0.10 0.95 1.20 1.55 1.45
Jun-22 0.10 1.00 1.20 1.60 1.50
Sep-22 0.10 1.00 1.25 1.60 1.50
Dec-22 0.10 1.00 1.25 1.65 1.55
Mar-23 0.10 1.05 1.30 1.65 1.55
Jun-23 0.10 1.05 1.35 1.65 1.55
Sep-23 0.10 1.05 1.35 1.65 1.55
Dec-23 0.10 1.05 1.35 1.70 1.60
Mar-24 0.10 1.05 1.40 1.70 1.60
Average 
rate

 
0.10 0.97 1.24 1.60 1.50

 
2.2.2 Borrowing Strategy

The Council expects to hold £72 million of loans at 31/3/21, no change from the 
previous year, as part of its strategy for funding previous years’ capital programmes. 
The value of loans are expected to increase to £75 million by the end of 2023/24 as a 
result of new borrowing and reduction in available existing resources which internally 
fund the planned capital programme. This strategy is prudent as forecasts are for only 
a modest increase in interest rates, investment returns remaining low and 
counterparty risk remaining relatively high.

Objectives: The Council’s primary objective when borrowing money is to strike an 
appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost 
certainty over the period for which funds are required. The flexibility to renegotiate 
loans should the Council’s long-term plans change is a secondary objective.

Strategy: Given the significant cuts to public expenditure and in particular to local 
government funding, the Council’s borrowing strategy continues to address the key 
issue of affordability without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt 
portfolio. With short-term interest rates currently much lower than long-term rates, it is 
likely to be more cost effective in the short-term to use internal resources, and / or to 
borrow short-term loans instead. By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net 
borrowing costs (despite foregone investment income) and reduce overall treasury 
risk. This means that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), 
has not been fully financed with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, 
balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure. 



- 7 -

The benefits of internal and short term borrowing will be monitored regularly against 
the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years 
when long-term borrowing rates are forecast to rise modestly. 

At 31st March 2021 the Council expects to be underborrowed by £11.3 million, this will 
reduce to around £8.8 million by 31st March 2024. 

The Council will undertake a ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven analysis to determine 
whether to  borrow additional sums at long-term fixed rates in 2021/22 with a view to 
keeping future interest costs low, even if this causes additional cost in the short-term.

PWLB loans are no longer available to local authorities planning to buy investment 
assets primarily for yield; the Council intends to avoid this activity in order to retain its 
access to PWLB loans. The Council will consider borrowing any long-term loans from 
other robust sources including banks, pensions and other local authorities.

In addition, the Council will include within it’s debt portfilio short-term loans (normally 
for up to one year) to reduce treasury cost in  a low interest rate environment and 
cover unexpected cash flow shortages.

The approved sources of long term and short term borrowing are:

 HM Treasury’s PWLB lending facility (formerly the Public Works Loan 
Board)

 Banks or building societies authorised to operate in the UK
 Money Market Loans
 Any other UK public body e.g. other Local Authorities
 UK public and private sector pension funds
 Internal funds – the cash held in internal funds can be used short term to 

fund capital expenditure or the repayment of debt, thus delaying the 
need to borrow externally

 UK Municipal Bonds Agency

Other sources of debt finance: In addition, capital finance may be raised by the 
following methods that are not borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities:

 leasing
 hire purchase
 sale and leaseback

2.2.3 Policy on borrowing in advance of need

The Council may from time to time borrow in advance of need, providing this does not 
exceed the authorised limit for borrowing which is £88.8 million for 2021/22 and where 
this is expected to provide the best long term value for money and the Council can 
ensure the security of such funds. The Borough Treasurer may do this under 
delegated powers where, for instance, a sharp rise or fall in interest rates is expected 
meaning borrowing early at fixed interest rates will be economically beneficial or meet 
budgetary constraints. Whilst the Borough Treasurer will adopt a cautious approach to 
any such borrowing, where there is a clear business case for doing so borrowing may 



- 8 -

be undertaken to fund the approved capital programme or to fund future debt 
maturities. 

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to 
profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in 
advance is expected to be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement 
estimates. Exceptionally, should a new Capital Invesment opportunity arise in the year 
where it would be appropriate to finance through borrowing and where it could be 
demonstrated that borrowing in advance of need would provide value for money the 
Council may borrow beyond its forward approved Capital Financing Requirement 
estimates.

2.2.4 Debt rescheduling

The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before they mature and either pay a 
premium or receive a discount according to a set formula based on current interest 
rates. The Council may take advantage of this and replace some loans with new 
loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is expected to lead to an overall 
cost saving or a reduction in risk.  

Any rescheduling undertaken will be reported to Policy and Organisation Board. 

2.2.5 Treasury Investment Strategy
The Council holds invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held.

During 2020/21, the Council’s treasury investment balances have aveaged £13 million 
and similar levels are expected to be maintained in the forthcoming year.

Objectives: The CIPFA  Code requires the Council to invest its treasury funds 
prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before 
seeking the highest rate of retrun or yield. 

Security
Liquidity

Yield



- 9 -

The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance 
between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the 
risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income. Where balances are expected to 
be invested for more than one year, the Council will aim to achieve a total return that 
is equal or higher than the 3 month LIBID rate.

Negative interest rates: The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the risk that the 
Bank of England will set its Bank Rate at or below zero, which is likely to feed through 
to negative interest rates on all low risk, short-term investment options. Since 
investments cannot pay negative income, negative rates will be applied by reducing 
the value of investments. In this event, security will be measured as receiving the 
contractually agreed amount at maturity, even though this may be less than the 
amount originally invested.

Approved Counterparties: The Council may invest surplus funds with any of the 
counterparty types in the table below, subject to the cash limits (per counterparty), the 
time limits subject to the sector limits shown.

Sector Time 
limit

Counterparty 
limit

Sector 
limit

The UK Government 50 
years Unlimited n/a

Local authorities & 
other government 
entities

5 years £3m Unlimited

Secured investments * 5 years £3m Unlimited

Banks (unsecured) * 13 
months £2m Unlimited

Building societies 
(unsecured) *

13 
months £2m £6m

Registered providers 
(unsecured) * 5 years £2m £6m

Money market funds * n/a £3m Unlimited

Strategic pooled funds
Strategic pooled investment fund £2m per fund

           Local Authority Property Fund mamimum £4m. 
Subject to an overall maximum Investment of £6m

Other investments * 5 years £2m £6m

* Minimum credit rating: Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an 
asterisk will only be made with entities whose lowest published long-term credit rating 
is no lower than [A-]. Where available, the credit rating relevant to the specific 
investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is 
used. However, investment decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings, 
and all other relevant factors including external advice will be taken into account.



- 10 -

For entities without published credit ratings, investments may be made either (a) 
where external advice indicates the entity to be of similar credit quality; or (b) to a 
maximum of £3million per counterparty as part of a diversified pool e.g. via a peer-to-
peer platform.

The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from the UK 
or a foreign country with a sovereign rating of AA or higher for direct investment.
No country limit will apply to investments in UK banks or building society. It is 
recommended that an aggregate limit for Investments outside the UK be applied of 
£8million and that in order to minimise the sytemic credit risk of investments in any 
region it is recommended that a £4million limit be applied to the following geographical 
areas where investments can be made in foreign countries.

 Asia & Australia
 Americas
 Eurozone
 Continental Europe outside the Eurozone

Government (including Local Government) : Loans to, and bonds and bills issued 
or guaranteed by, national governments, regional and local authorities and multilateral 
development banks. These investments are not subject to bail-in, and there is 
generally a lower risk of insolvency, although they are not zero risk. Investments with 
the UK Government are deemed to be zero credit risk due to its ability to create 
additional currency and therefore may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 
years.

Secured investments: Investments secured on the borrower’s assets, which limits 
the potential losses in the event of insolvency. The amount and quality of the security 
will be a key factor in the investment decision. Covered bonds and reverse 
repurchase agreements with banks and building societies are exempt from bail-in. 
Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but the collateral upon which the 
investment is secured has a credit rating, the higher of the collateral credit rating and 
the counterparty credit rating will be used. The combined secured and unsecured 
investments with any one counterparty will not exceed the cash limit for secured 
investments.

Banks and Building Societies (unsecured): Accounts, deposits, certificates of 
deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks and building societies, other than 
multilateral development banks. These investments are subject to the risk of credit 
loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail. 
See below for arrangements relating to operational bank accounts.

Registered Providers (unsecured): Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or 
secured on the assets of Registered Providers of Social Housing and registered social 
landlords, formerly known as Housing Associations.  These bodies are regulated by 
the Regulator of Social Housing (in England) and, as providers of public services, they 
retain the likelihood of receiving government support if needed.  

Money market funds: Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice liquidity and 
very low or no price volatility by investing in short-term money markets. They have the 



- 11 -

advantage over bank accounts of providing wide diversification of investment risks, 
coupled with the services of a professional fund manager in return for a small fee. 
Although no sector limit applies to money market funds, the Council will take care to 
diversify its liquid investments over a variety of providers to ensure access to cash at 
all times. 

Strategic pooled funds: Bond, equity and property funds that offer enhanced returns 
over the longer term but are more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council 
to diversify into asset classes other than cash without the need to own and manage 
the underlying investments. Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but 
are available for withdrawal after a notice period, their performance and continued 
suitability in meeting the Council’s investment objectives will be monitored regularly.

Other investments: This category covers treasury investments not listed above, for 
example unsecured corporate bonds and company loans. Non-bank companies 
cannot be bailed-in but can become insolvent placing the Council’s investment at risk. 

Operational bank accounts: The Council will incur operational exposures, through 
operation of it’s current account with National Westminster Bank (credit rating above 
A-). These are not classed as investments, but are still subject to the risk of a bank 
bail-in, and balances will therefore be kept below £250,000 which may for operational 
reasons be occassionally exceeded. 

Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings: Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by 
the Councl’s treasury advisers, who will notify changes in ratings as they occur. 
Where an entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved 
investment criteria then:

 no new investment will be made
 any existing investment that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, and
 full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing 

investments with the affected counterparty

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible 
downgrade so that it may fall below the approved rating criteria, then only investments 
that can be withdrawn (on the next working day) will be made with that organisation 
until the outcome of the review is announced. This policy will not apply to negative 
outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel rather than an imminent change 
of rating.

Other Information on the Security of Investments : the Council understands that 
credit ratings are useful, but not perfect, predictors of investment default. Full regard 
will therefore be given to other available information on the credit quality of the 
organisations, in which it invests, including credit default swaps, share prices, 
information on government support for banks and reports in the quality financial press 
and analysis and advice from the Council’s treasury management adviser. No 
investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its 
credit quality, even though it may otherwise meet the above criteria. When 
deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all 
organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2020, this is not generally reflected in credit 



- 12 -

ratings, but can be seen in other market measures. In these circumstances, the 
Council will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit quality and 
reduce the maximum duration of its investments to maintain the required level of 
security. The extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing financial market 
conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of high 
credit quality are available to invest the Authority’s cash balances, then the surplus will 
be deposited with the UK Government, or with other local authorities.  This will cause 
investment returns to fall but will protect the principal sum invested.

2.2.6 Treasury Management Indicators 

2.2.6.1 Interest Rate Exposures 
This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk. The upper 
limits on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in interest rates will be:

Interest rate exposures 2021/22
£'000

Limits on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates 12
Limits on one-year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates (29)

The impacts of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that 
maturing loans and investments will be replaced at current rates.
2.2.6.2 Maturity Structure of Borrowing
This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper 
and lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowing will be:

2021/22 2021/22
Lower Upper

Maturity structure of borrowing 
Under 12 months 0% 30%
12 months to 2 years 0% 25%
2 years to 5 years 0% 25%
5 years to 10 years 0% 20%
10 years to 40 years 0% 20%
40 years to 50 years 30% 50%

(NB Time periods start on the first day of each financial year)

2.2.6.3 Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days
The purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of 
incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments. The limits on the long-
term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the year end will be:



- 13 -

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m
Principal sums invested > 364 days 6.0 6.0 6.0

Maximum principal sums invested
>365 days

2.2.7 Other Items

2.2.7.1 Other Options Considered
The CIPFA Code does not prescribe any particular treasury management strategy for 
local authorities to adopt. The S151 Officer believes that the above strategy 
represents an appropriate balance between risk management and cost effectiveness.  
Some alternative strategies, with their financial and risk management implications, are 
listed below.

Alternative Impact on income and 
expenditure

Impact on risk 
management

Invest in a narrower range 
of counterparties and/or 
for shorter times

Interest income will be 
lower

Lower chance of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be greater

Invest in a wider range of 
counterparties and/or for 
longer times

Interest income will be 
higher

Increased risk of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be smaller

Borrow additional sums at 
long-term fixed interest 
rates

Debt interest costs will 
rise; this is unlikely to be 
offset by higher 
investment income

Higher investment balance 
leading to a higher impact 
in the event of a default; 
however long-term interest 
costs may be more certain

Borrow short-term or 
variable loans instead of 
long-term fixed rates

Debt interest costs will 
initially be lower

Increases in debt interest 
costs will be broadly offset 
by rising investment 
income in the medium 
term, but long-term costs 
may be less certain 

Reduce level of borrowing Saving on debt interest is 
likely to exceed lost 
investment income

Reduced investment 
balance leading to a lower 
impact in the event of a 
default; however long-term 
interest costs may be less 
certain

2.2.7.2 Investment Training
The training needs of the officers involved on treasury management are identified 
through the annual personal review process, and additionally when the responsibilities 
of individual members of staff change. Staff attend relevant training courses, seminars 
and conferences.



- 14 -

2.2.7.3 Treasury management consultants
The Council have appointed Arlingclose Limited as its external treasury management 
advisors and they provide a range of services to the Council including: 

• Investments advice
• Borrowing advice
• Technical support on treasury matters and capital finance issues
• Economic and interest rate analysis
• Training and briefing sessions

The contract with Arlinclose commenced July 2016 for an initial period of 3 years with 
an option to extend for a further year. The option to extend has been taken. A further 
1 year contract was agreed in July 2020. This contract will be reviewed during 
2021/22. 
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not 
placed upon our external service providers.

2.2.7.4 Policy on Apportioning Interest to the HRA
On 1st April 2012, the Council notionally split each of its existing long-term loans into 
General Fund and HRA pools the later included £57million borrowed on the 28th 
March 2012 to make a payment to the Government under the HRA Self Financing 
scheme. In the future, new long-term loans borrowed will be assigned in their entirety 
to one pool or the other. Interest payable and other costs/income arising from long-
term loans (e.g. premiums and discounts on early redemption) will be 
charged/credited to the respective revenue account. Differences between the value of 
the HRA loans and the HRA’s underlying need to borrow will be charged an interest 
from the General Fund equivalent to the General Funds average interest on its 
borrowing. HRA balance sheet resources available for investment will result in a 
notional cash balance which will receive the Council’s average interest rate on 
investments.  

2.2.7.5 Markets in Financial Instruments Directive:
The Council has opted up to professional client status with it’s providers of financial 
services, including advisers, banks, brokers and fund managers, allowing it access to 
a greater range of services but without the greater regulatory protections afforded to 
individuals and small companies. Given the size and range of the Council’s treasury 
management activities, the S151 Officer believes this to be the most appropriate 
status.

3.0 CONCLUSION
The effect of the proposals set out in this report is to allow the Council to effectively 
and efficiently manage cash balances in line with the relevant CIPFA and MHCLG 
guidance. The low risk nature of the Council’s current policy is consistent with the 
current economic climate. 



- 15 -

Financial implications: As contained in the report.

Legal implications: It is a legal requirement that an annual Treasury 
Management report is considered by the 
Council.

Service Improvement 
Plan implications:

Corporate Plan:

This report is required in order that to fulfil 
statutory requirements associated with the 
achievement of both service improvement plan 
and corporate plan targets.

Risk Assessment: As contained in the report

Background papers:

Author:  Borough Treasurer



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda item 

Board/Committee: POLICY AND ORGANISATION BOARD
Date of meeting: 24 MARCH 2021
Title: PERSISTENT AND VEXATIOUS COMPLAINTS POLICY
Author: BOROUGH SOLICITOR AND MONITORING OFFICER
Status: FOR APPROVAL

Purpose

This report sets out a proposal for a persistent and vexatious complaints policy to use 
specifically in relation to complaints and enquiries which are persistent and vexatious, 
which may include abusive and offensive communications with the Council.

Recommendation

That the Committee approves the Persistent or Vexatious Complaints and 
Complainants Policy appended to this report.

1.0 Background

1.1 The Council operates a system for handling corporate complaints, which is 
administered within the Legal Democratic and Customer Services Section.

1.2 The Council have received, and continue to receive, communications which 
are vexatious, abusive and offensive. These communications are not 
confined to a particular category - including verbal, written and in person 
contact - and can relate to customers of certain departments, as well as 
those members of the public who have a corporate complaint in progress.

2.0 Report

2.1 The Council wants to deal with complainants in ways that are open, fair 
and proportionate. 

The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (“the Ombudsman”) 
advises that: 

“A considered, policy-led approach helps staff to understand clearly what is 
expected of them, what options for action are available, and who can 
authorise these actions. A policy that can be shared with complainants if 
they start to behave unreasonably can help in managing their expectations 
and their behaviour, as far as possible, while the substance of their 
complaint is addressed.”

2.2 The Council does not currently have a policy that sets out how it will deal 
with persistent and vexatious complaints. As a result, in the past it has 
dealt with such issues on an ad hoc basis, which is undesirable for staff 

Agenda Item 8



due to the uncertainty of process and also for customers who have not 
been provided with clear guidance regarding how they are to be treated.

2.3 The policy has been drafted with reference to guidance provided by the 
Ombudsman. The Ombudsman may potentially become involved in the 
handling of persistent or vexatious complainants if a related complaint is 
referred to them. If the Council has had to restrict contact with a 
complainant in any way, showing the Ombudsman that this has taken 
place with an approved policy will assist both the Council and the 
Ombudsman.

2.4 The policy sets out definitions of unreasonably persistent complainants as 
well as vexatious complainants. It also provides examples of unreasonable 
actions and behaviours. Most importantly, it provides guidance in dealing 
with and managing persistent complainants, which is likely to involve 
consideration of how communications with the complainant could be 
restricted through a number of means.

2.5 The policy also sets out how decision-making should take place in relation 
to such complainants, and provides for the complainant to appeal against a 
decision to restrict contact. This is consistent with the Ombudsman’s 
guidance. Finally, the policy sets out how decisions will be recorded and 
reviewed: it is not anticipated nor advised that restricted communication 
should be imposed for an indefinite period of time.

3.0 Conclusion

3.1 This report sets out the rationale for introducing a policy to deal with 
persistent and vexatious complaints.

Financial Services comments: N/A
Legal Services comments: Contained within the report
Crime and Disorder: N/A
Equality and Diversity: Equalities Impact Assessment carried out and 

attached at Appendix B.
Service Improvement Plan 
implications:

N/A

Climate Change implications: N/A
Corporate Plan: Empower our residents – encourage good 

citizenship, and Deliver Effective Services – 
continually review and improve our processes

Risk Assessment: The introduction of a formal policy will avoid the 
Council needing to deal with persistent and 
vexatious complaints in an ad hoc manner and 
provide greater certainty and clarity to the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman that 
the Council has a proportionate and fair 
approach to the matter.



Background Papers: Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman “Guidance on managing 
unreasonable complainant behaviour”

Appendices: A: Persistent or vexatious complaints and 
complainants policy
B:   Equalities Impact Assessment

Report Author/Lead Officer: Paul Grant, Borough Solicitor and Monitoring 
Officer



This page is intentionally left blank



1

 

Persistent or vexatious 
complaints and 
complainants policy



2

Contents
1. Introduction
2. Definition of unreasonable and unreasonably persistent complainants
3. Examples of unreasonable actions and behaviours
4. Vexatious Complainants
5. Managing persistent complainants
6. Deciding to restrict complainant contact
7. Considerations prior to taking action under the policy
8. Appealing a decision to restrict contact
9. Recording and reviewing decisions
10. Record keeping



3

1. Introduction

1.1.Complaints about Gosport Borough Council are processed in accordance with the 
corporate complaints policy. In a minority of cases people pursue their complaints in a 
way that is unreasonable. They may behave unacceptably, or be unreasonably 
persistent in their contact and submission of information; they can take up an 
unwarranted amount of council resources or impede the investigation of their 
complaint.

The aim of this policy is to identify situations where the complainant could be 
considered vexatious or unreasonable or unreasonably persistent and how to deal with 
such situations.

This guidance also reflects the “Guidance note on ‘unreasonably persistent’ 
complainants and ‘unreasonable complainant behaviour’” issued by the Local 
Government Ombudsman.

1.2. It must be recognised that complainants may sometimes act out of character at times of 
anxiety or distress and reasonable allowances should be made for this.

1.3.This policy does not apply to complaints in respect of councillors.  Guidance on how to 
proceed with a complaint about a councillor can be found at 
https://www.gosport.gov.uk/sections/democratic-services/complaints-about-councillors  

2. Definition of unreasonable and unreasonably persistent 
complainants

2.1. It is important to distinguish between 'persistent' complainants and 'unreasonably 
persistent' complainants.  People pursuing their complaint are 'persistent' because they 
feel the council has not dealt with their complaint properly and are not prepared to 
leave the matter.

2.2.Unreasonable and unreasonably persistent complainants are those complainants who, 
because of the nature or frequency of their contacts with the council, hinder the 
council's consideration of their or other people's complaints.

2.3.Unreasonable and unreasonably persistent complainants may have justified complaints 
or grievances but are pursuing them in inappropriate ways. Others may pursue 
complaints which appear to have no substance or which have already been 
investigated and determined.  Their contact with the council may be amicable but still 
place heavy demands on staff time, or they may be very emotionally charged and this 
can be distressing for all involved.

2.4.Sometimes the situation between the council and a complainant can escalate and the 
behaviour moves from being unreasonable and unreasonably persistent to behaviour 
which is unacceptable for example, abusive, offensive or threatening.

2.5.Very occasionally complainants also act deceitfully by forging documents, making 
covert recordings of meetings, adopting false identities and so on. Such behaviour is 
unacceptable and managing it can become a distraction from consideration of the 
original substance of the complaint.

https://www.gosport.gov.uk/sections/democratic-services/complaints-about-councillors


4

3. Examples of unreasonable actions and behaviours

3.1.These are some of the actions and behaviours which can be problematic.  Single 
incidents may be unacceptable, but more often the difficulty is caused by unreasonably 
persistent behaviour that is time consuming to manage and interferes with proper 
consideration of the complaint.

 Refusing to specify the grounds of a complaint, despite offers of assistance.

 Refusing to co-operate with the complaints investigation process.

 Refusing to accept that certain issues are not within the scope of the complaints 
procedure.

 Insisting on the complaint being dealt with in ways which are incompatible with the 
adopted complaints procedure or with good practice.

 Making unjustified complaints about staff who are trying to deal with the issues, and 
seeking to have them replaced.

 Changing the basis of the complaint as the investigation proceeds.

 Denying or changing statements he or she made at an earlier stage.

 Introducing trivial or irrelevant new information at a later stage.

 Raising numerous, detailed but unimportant questions; insisting they are all 
answered.

 Covertly recording meetings and conversations.

 Submitting falsified documents from themselves or others.

 Adopting a 'scatter gun' approach: pursuing parallel complaints on the same issue 
through a variety of channels.

 Making excessive demands on the time and resources of staff with lengthy phone 
calls, emails to numerous council staff, or detailed letters every few days, and 
expecting immediate responses.

 Submitting repeat complaints with minor additions/variations that the complainant 
insists make these 'new' complaints.

 Refusing to accept the decision; repeatedly arguing points with no new evidence.

4. Vexatious Complainants

4.1.Someone who causes or is likely to cause a disproportionate or unjustified level of 
disruption, irritation or distress.

4.2.Complainants may be deemed to be vexatious as a result of their unreasonable 
behaviour where current or previous contact with them shows that they have met one 
or more of the following criteria:



5

 Persisting in pursuing a complaint where the council’s complaints procedure has 
been fully and properly implemented and exhausted, including the Local 
Government Ombudsman.

 The substance of a complaint is changed or new issues are raised persistently or 
complainants seek to prolong contact by unreasonably raising further concerns 
although care must be taken not to disregard new issues, which differ significantly 
from the original complaint.

 Complainants are unwilling to accept documented evidence of facts or deny receipt 
of an adequate response despite correspondence specifically answering their 
questions/concerns. This could also extend to complainants who do not accept that 
facts can sometimes be difficult to verify after a long period of time has elapsed.

 Complainants refuse to specify or do not clearly identify the precise issues or 
grounds they wish to be investigated despite reasonable efforts to help them.

 Complainants have, in the course of pursuing a registered complaint, had an 
excessive number of contacts (or unreasonably made multiple complaints) with the 
council placing unreasonable demands on council employees. Such contacts may 
be in person, by telephone, letter, fax or electronically.  Discretion must be exercised 
in deciding how many contacts are required to qualify as excessive, using judgement 
based on the specific circumstances of each individual case.

 Complainants have harassed, been abusive, verbally aggressive, threatening or 
bullying on one or more occasions towards staff dealing with their complaint – 
directly or indirectly – or their families and/or associates. All incidents of harassment 
or aggression must be documented, dated and reported to the line manager.

 Complainants making unnecessarily excessive demands on the time and resources 
of the council or its staff whilst a complaint is being looked into, by excessive 
telephoning or sending emails to numerous council staff, writing lengthy complex 
letters every few days and expecting immediate responses.

 Complainant refusing to accept that issues are not within the remit of a complaints 
procedure despite having been provided with information about the procedure’s 
scope.

 Complainant making what appears to be groundless complaints about the staff 
dealing with the complaints, and seeking to have them replaced.

 Complainant adopting a “scattergun” approach: pursuing a complaint or complaints 
with the authority and at the same time with a Member of Parliament/a councillor/the 
authority’s independent auditor/ local police/solicitors/the Ombudsman.

 Combination of some or all of these.

4.3.Complaints may be deemed to be vexatious in any situation where physical violence 
has been used or threatened towards staff or their families/associates at any time. This 
will cause personal contact with the complainant to be discontinued and the complaint 
will, thereafter, only be pursued through written communication. All such incidents 
should be documented and reported in accordance with the violence at work policy.



6

5. Managing persistent 
complainants

5.1. If a complainant’s persistence adversely affects the council's ability to do its 
work and provide a service to others, the council may need to manage their 
unacceptable behaviour by restricting their contact.

5.2.Any restrictions applied will be appropriate and proportionate to the 
nature of the complainant’s contacts with the council at that time, such 
as:

 Placing time limits on telephone conversations and personal contacts.
 Restricting the number of telephone calls that will be taken (for 

example one call on one specified morning/afternoon of any week).
 Limiting the complainant to one medium of contact (telephone, letter, 

email etc).
 Requiring a complainant to communicate only with a named employee.
 Involving the police in cases where we believe the complainant 

has committed a criminal offence (for example, harassment, 
assault on staff or criminal damage),

 where assaults threatened, or where the complainant refuses repeated 
requests to leave council premises.

 Prohibiting the customer from visiting the Town Hall or other Council 
premises or restricting their access to the Town Hall or other Council 
premises unless agreed by prior appointment

5.3.Wherever possible the council will seek to apply restrictions in a way which will 
allow a complaint to progress to completion through the complaints process.

6. Deciding to restrict complainant contact

6.1.Before making any decision to restrict contact the complainant will be warned 
that, if the specified behaviour or actions continue, it will consider applying 
some or all of the restrictions set out at 5.2.

6.2.Decisions about applying this policy will only be taken after careful 
consideration of the situation by the section head.

6.3.The section head will consider whether:

 the complainant is raising legitimate concerns
 the complaint is or has been investigated properly
 any decision reached is the right one
 communications with the complainant have been adequate
 any circumstances that relate to the complainants mental health, age, 

gender, sexual orientation, belief or disability have been considered
 the complainant is not now providing any significant new information 

that might affect the council’s view on the complaint.

6.4. In deciding which restrictions are appropriate, careful consideration will be 
given to balancing the rights of the individual with the need to ensure other 
complainants and employees do not suffer any disadvantage and the 



7

resources of the council are used effectively as possible.

6.5.Where this policy is applied the complainant will be sent a copy of the policy and 
told in writing why:

 a decision has been made to restrict future contact;
 any restricted contact arrangements:
 the length of time that these restrictions will be in place, and
 what they can do to have the decision reviewed

7. Considerations prior to taking action under the policy

7.1 When it is necessary to designate the complainant as behaving 
unreasonably the following actions may be deemed appropriate;

 Offering the complainant a meeting with an officer of appropriate seniority to 
explore the scope for a resolution of the complaint and explain why their current 
behaviour is seen as unreasonable.

 Sharing the policy with the complainant and warning them that restrictive 
actions may need to be applied if their behaviour continues.

 Setting up a strategy meeting to agree a cross-service approach.
 Designating a key officer to co-ordinate the council's response(s).
 Helping the complainant to find a suitable independent advocate, 

especially if the complainant has different needs.
 Consideration of any protected characteristics or other relevant 

characteristics pertaining to the complainant will be required in all cases 
to ensure that the Council’s actions are proportionate and fair

8. Appealing a decision to restrict contact

8.1.A complainant can appeal a decision to restrict contact. The appeal will be 
considered by a section head who has not been involved in the original 
decision. They will advise the complainant in writing whether the restricted 
contact arrangements still apply or a different course of action has been agreed.

9. Recording and reviewing decisions

9.1 When it is decided to restrict contact, a note will be sent to all services 
involved and a record made on the persons file and any relevant computer 
records.

9.2 Any further correspondence from the complainant will still be read to pick 
up any significant new information.

9.3 If the complainant makes any new complaints about new issues these will be 
treated on their merits and a decision will have to be made by the manager 
whether any restrictions, which have been applied before, are still appropriate or 
necessary.

9.4 A decision to restrict contact may be reconsidered if the complainant 



8

demonstrates a more acceptable approach.

9.5 The decision to impose a restriction will be reviewed by the date advised to the 
complainant.  Restrictions should be lifted and relationships returned to normal 
unless there are good grounds to extend the restrictions. The complainant will 
be informed of the outcome of the review.

9.6 If restrictions are to continue the complainant will be advised of the reasons 
and when the restrictions will next be reviewed.

10. Record keeping

10.1 Adequate records will be retained by the appropriate section head of the details 
of the case and the action that has been taken.

10.2 The customer complaints service must be advised:

 The name and address of each complainant who is treated as abusive, vexatious or 
persistent;

 When the restriction came into force and the end date;
 What the restrictions are;
 When the customer and departments were advised, and
 The results of any review(s)



APPENDIX B
EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Final 

Name of policy_. 
Persistent or Vexatious Complaints Policy

1. Is this policy, strategy or function new _.

1a.  Briefly describe the reasons for developing or reviewing this?
Eg: change in legislation or requirements, results of consultation, part of a regular review cycle, etc.

The Council receives complaints as a matter of routine. Some of these can involve persistent or vexatious complainants. Having 
reviewed the Information Commissioner’s Office guidance it would be best practice for the Council to deal with such complainants 
consistently and in conjunction with an approved policy.

2a. Describe the main aim or purpose of this item? Who will it benefit? Why is it needed?

The aim is to address complaints which are vexatious, abusive or unreasonably persistent. It will benefit staff by providing a consistent 
approach to how such complaints are dealt with, showing that they are supported and will not be exposed to unreasonable behaviour by 
complainants without such complainants facing the possibility of their communication with the Council being restricted. 

It will also benefit complainants by ensuring that there is an approved policy basis for how their complaint will be dealt with and the policy 
will be shared with them if they are to be treated as persistent or vexatious so that they are informed as to the basis on which any 
communication with the Council might be restricted.



3a. The Public Sector Equality Duty is part of the Equality Act 2010. The Duty requires the Council to have due regard to the 
following three aims:  

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation;
 advance equal opportunities between people from different groups
 foster good relations between people from different groups.  

Having due regard means considering how this policy, strategy or function has or will advance equal opportunities for each of 
the protected groups below.   

It will ensure that there is a consistency of approach which would eliminate unlawful discrimination. The policy will be applied 
consistently to all, taking into account the circumstances and characteristics of complainants in each case.

3b  Identify how this item demonstrates due regard to the three aims above  for each of the protected groups below. 

 (For marriage and civil partnership, legislation requires  you only need to demonstrate how you would eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment 
and victimisation)

Protected 
characteristic

This item demonstrates due regard by:
Describe how it furthers equal opportunities. You can 
cite examples of  any disadvantage this item removes 
or minimises,  how it meets the specific needs of any 
groups, how it encourages participation, promotes 
understanding or integration between groups    

Describe any negative impact 
or potentially negative impact 
of this item for any group.  For 
any negative impact identified, 
describe actions already taken to 
address it. Any planned actions 
must be identified in section 4. 

List data sources/ 
evidence used to assess 
impact and whether this 
item furthers the aims of 
the Equality Duty. Insert 
links to data used where 
possible

Age As previously stated, the policy will be applied 
consistently taking into account any protected 
characteristics to avoid unlawful discrimination which is 
more likely with an approach not based on the 

None identified
This policy is applied in 
accordance with the 
Council’s Statement of 
Commitment to Equality & 



consistent application of a policy. It therefore 
demonstrates a proportionate and fair approach to 
complaints handling which will assist in showing 
different groups that they are all treated fairly and 
equitably.

Disability As above

Gender 
reassignment

As above

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

As above

Pregnancy 
and Maternity

As above

Race (ethnic 
or  national 
origin, colour, 
nationality)

As above

Religion or 
Belief 
(and lack of 
belief)

As above

Sex As above
Sexual 
Orientation

As above

Diversity  which has this 
proviso “Complaints 
received by the Council 
with a focus on any related 
to equality and diversity 
issues are also shared 
with the corporate lead 
officer for equality and 
diversity in order to assess 
and make 
recommendations for 
corporate actions to 
address them.” 
This policy is also aligned 
with the Council’s  
Accessible 
Communication Guidance 
which provides information 
and resources to 
communicate effectively in 
different formats and 
languages to best suit the 
needs of customers  

3c. Are there any other groups in addition to those above which could be impacted (e.g. socially or financially excluded) by 
this item? Possibly those experiencing mental health issues or other conditions impacting on their ability to send or receive 
communication to resolve an issue. Again, these would be taken into account and considered if implementing this policy.



5. Do you have any additional comments? If so, please add.
NONE
6. Date 16.03.2020 Officer(s) completing assessment

Paul Grant
Section Date Approved

7. Name of Section Head: Paul Grant Date review completed. 16.03.2020 
8. Date submitted to Board/Full Council 24.03.2020

E &D Lead officer Recommendation: 

 This assessment form is incomplete and requires additional information for its review by EDSG.
_________________________________________________________________________________

This assessment has been successfully reviewed  with the following outcome:

      No major change – The assessment of this policy/strategy/function shows no potential for discrimination and the aims of
         the Equality Duty have been met.

         Review the policy regularly – This item will meet the aims of the Equality Duty if actions identified in Sections 3 and 4 to remove 
barriers or to better advance equality are implemented.

4. Please Identify any further actions you will take resulting from this assessment. 

Action Officer Responsible Completion date
This policy and its application to persistent and or 
vexatious complainants, along with any staff and 
customer feedback, are reviewed at least every two years 
and the policy is updated as needed.  

Borough Solicitor & Monitoring 
Officer

March 2023



      Continue the policy/strategy/function – There is some potential for adverse impact or missed opportunities to promote equality, 
          but no unlawful discrimination has been identified. Ensure effective equality monitoring is in place to regularly assess the actual  
          impact on different groups  

      Stop and Rethink – Adverse equality impacts have been identified/ may not be justified and have not been sufficiently mitigated.  
         Unlawful discrimination could be taking place. Do not adopt or continue until a full equality investigation has been completed.     



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Board/Committee: POLICY AND ORGANISATION BOARD 
Date of meeting: 24 MARCH 2021
Title: NOTIFICATION OF URGENT DECISION TO APPROVE THE 

AWARD THE CONTRACT FOR LEASED SUPPLY AND 
MAINTENANCE OF VEHICLES 

Author: BOROUGH SOLICITOR AND MONITORING OFFICER
Status: FOR NOTING

Purpose

The Council’s Constitution sets out at paragraph 3.7 Part 3 Schedule 10 that the Chief 
Executive has the following power:

“Authority to take any action on urgent matter which would otherwise require 
reference to or consultation with the Council, a Board or Committee, if there is 
no such time for such reference or consultation to be made provided the Section 
151 Officer and Monitoring Officer agree to the proposed course of action before 
it is decided. All such decisions shall be reported to the next meeting of the 
Council, Board or Committee”.

This power has in turn been delegated by the Chief Executive to the Assistant to the 
Chief Executive.

The Council has explored a number of procurement options for the vehicles needed 
to support the DSO-operated grounds maintenance function. Due to difficulty in 
obtaining competitive quotations, partly as a result of the Covid-19 global pandemic 
and the uncertainty around Brexit, the Chief Executive exercised the above power in 
order to award the lease contract for the necessary vehicles using the Negotiated 
Procedure, without prior advertisement, with U-lease and negotiate a contract on a 
direct award basis.

Recommendation

That the Policy and Organisation Board notes the attached decision report as a 
record of the Assistant to the Chief Executive having exercised the urgency 
provision set out at paragraph 3.7 Part 3 Schedule 10 of the Constitution, with 
the agreement of the Borough Treasurer (s151 Officer) and the Borough 
Solicitor & Monitoring Officer.

1.0 Background

1.1 It has previously been decided by the Council that the grounds maintenance 
services, currently outsourced, will be undertaken by the Council’s 
Streetscene Direct Service Organisation (DSO) from April 2021. 

Agenda Item 9



1.2 The Council has explored a number of procurement framework options to 
seek quotations for the vehicles, but no suitable quotes were received that 
could meet the deadline of 1st April 2021.

Regulation 32 of the Public Contracts Regulations permits direct negotiation 
and contract award to a supplier, without open advertising in a range of 
specific circumstances.

An emergency decision under the Chief Executive’s delegated powers was 
required to ensure the contract progressed without delay and to ensure that 
vehicles are available for the start date of 1 April 2021.

1.3 The Assistant to the Chief Executive made a decision to make a direct 
award based on the attached briefing note on 12 February 2021. This 
decision was made following consultation with Group Leaders and the 
approval of the Borough Treasurer and Section 151 Officer, and the 
Borough Solicitor and Monitoring Officer.

Group Leaders were advised at the time that this noting report would be 
presented to Community Board, however, it was subsequently established 
that the total value of the contract was such that it would need to be 
presented to the Policy and Organisation Board as it exceeds the EU 
Threshold for service contracts.



Urgent Briefing Note: for Chris Ward Borough Treasurer, 
Debbie Gore, Assistant to the Chief Executive & Paul 
Grant, Borough Solicitor

Author: Stevyn Ricketts, Stephanie Lucking
Date: 11/02/2021
Title: Leased Supply and Maintenance of Vehicles
Status: FOR URGENT DELEGATED DECISION.

Purpose

This briefing note sets out the position regarding the proposed contract for leased 
supply and maintenance of vehicles required to obtain a fleet of new vehicles to 
support the DSO-operated grounds maintenance function from  1st April 2021 
onwards. It seeks approval to proceed to negotiate a contract on a direct award basis 
due to the difficulty in obtaining competitive quotations.

Recommendation

That an urgent decision is approved to award the lease contract for the necessary 
vehicles using the Negotiated Procedure without prior advertisement, with U-lease.

1.0 Background

1.1 It has previously been decided by the Council that the grounds maintenance 
services, previously outsourced, will be undertaken by the Council’s 
Streetscene Direct Service Organisation (DSO) from April 2021. 

1.2 The Council has now awarded contracts for the supply of grounds maintenance 
machinery, and also requires a fleet of vehicles to support the service.

1.3 Following an assessment of possible procurement routes, which considered 
the merits of principal national and regional public sector leasing frameworks, 
as well as an EU-advertised tender process, Crown Commercial Service 
Framework RM 6096 was selected, as it offered maintenance options, as well 
as the largest number of well-established leasing firms with a presence in the 
South of England. 

1.4 A Further Competition procedure was conducted during November 2020. 
Unfortunately despite some initial interest from framework suppliers, no 
quotations were submitted. Follow-up conversations with some suppliers 
indicated uncertainty due to the potential Brexit tariff situation at that time, the 
impact of Covid-19 on supply chain capacity, the relatively small scale of the 
commercial opportunity, and concern that grounds maintenance activities 



subject lease vehicles to a high degree of wear and tear, reducing their residual 
value.

1.5 Quotations were subsequently sought via two alternative frameworks – the 
Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation (YPO) Vehicle Lease, Hire and Purchase 
Framework, and the Hertfordshire County Council / Procurement Partnership 
Limited (TPPL) Contract Hire and Lease Framework.

1.6 One quotation was received via each of these Frameworks, from Leaseplan 
and from Days Fleet respectively. Both of these exceeded the Council’s 
anticipated budget for the requirement, and neither can meet all of the Council’s 
requirements without a substantial lead-in time which would significantly delay 
the delivery of the vehicles.

1.7 An urgent decision is now required to proceed to secure a contract to lease the 
vehicles the Council needs in order to provide the grounds maintenance 
service.

2.0 Report

2.1 Enquires by Streetscene originally undertaken to establish short term rental 
rates to address the risk of delivery delays established a possible alternative 
local procurement route. 

These enquiries have established that U-lease, a company based in Poole are 
able to supply the vehicles required, via a leasing arrangement in-line with the 
original business case for the DSO. Quotations were also obtained locally from 
Pitter leasing and Days Ford and are detailed on the attached spreadsheet.

U-lease are the only company that can supply the vehicles ready for the DSO 
start date of 1/4/2021 as they are currently holding  stock. Both remaining 
companies quoted a 14-20 week waiting period and therefore do not fulfil our 
requirements.  The U-lease quote is £60,986.04 well within our original budget 
of £63K per year.

2.2 In order to progress to contract award without further delay, it is proposed to 
negotiate an agreement directly with U-lease and their nominated finance 
partner.

2.3 Regulation 32 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 permits direct 
negotiation and contract award to a supplier, without open advertising, in a 
range of specific circumstances.

2.4 In particular, two of the provisions of Regulation 32 may apply in this case:



 Reg.32(2)(a) which permits a direct award where no tenders, or no 
suitable tenders, have been submitted in response to an advertised 
tender competition;

 Reg.32(2)(c) which permits a direct award where, for reasons of urgency 
brought about by events unforeseeable by the authority, the normal 
procurement process cannot be complied with.

2.5 The Government has advised contracting authorities that where normal 
procurement activity is disrupted or rendered impossible due to the impacts of 
the Covid-19 outbreak, particularly where the outbreak has led to supply chain 
disruption, this can justify the use of Reg.32(2)(c). In addition the Council has 
taken advice from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) that the use of a direct award, using a Negotiated Procedure, is likely 
to be justified in this case, particularly given the facts that: 

(a) the Council has made multiple efforts to secure appropriate 
quotations via no less than three competitive procedures, representing 
in total more than 100 national and regional vehicle leasing suppliers, 
and:

(b) several of the vehicle leasing suppliers in question have made 
reference to Covid-19 and related disruption when explaining why they 
would not submit an offer.

3.0 Conclusion

3.1 It is felt that attempting to conduct a further competitive procurement process 
would be a waste of the Council’s resources, would be relatively unlikely to 
produce an acceptable result, and would cause significant delay to the delivery 
of the vehicles the Council required.

The direct award procedure the Council now seeks to utilise is permitted by the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 in the current circumstances.

It is therefore recommended that a contract is directly negotiated with U-Lease 
and its nominated Ford finance partner.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting of the board held on 2 February 2021.
	6 Treasury Management Annual Review 2019/20 Progress Report 2020/21 and Prudential Indicators
	7 Treasury Management Strategy MRP Policy 2021/22
	8 Persistent and Vexatious Complaints Policy
	Persistent or vexatious complaints policy 16032021
	EqIA for persistent or vexatious complaints policy 16032021

	9 NOTIFICATION OF URGENT DECISION TO APPROVE THE AWARD THE CONTRACT FOR LEASED SUPPLY AND MAINTENANCE OF VEHICLES
	Report - Vehicle Leasing - Direct Award Briefing 11.2.2021


